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--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.
DECISION:

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  We are reconvening today in the case of Hydro One Brampton, EB-2010-0331, and Hydro One Networks, EB-2010-0332, with respect to six CDM programs.

On Friday, March 4th, we heard submissions on four preliminary questions.  The Board has considered the submissions and has the following comments.

With respect to the decision framework, as a preliminary matter, the Board has been asked to provide parties with guidance as to what the decision framework will be applied to evidence in this case.

We heard submissions which ranged from adoption of the "just and reasonable" approach appearing in section 78.3, which governs the Board's determination of rate cases and rate orders, to "as far as appropriate and reasonable", which is language which appears in the Minister's directive of March 2010.

All parties are agreed that in performing its review, the Board should be guided by the objectives appearing in section 1, section 1 of the OEB Act, which, among other things, requires us to have regard for economic efficiency.

The directive in paragraph 8 also requires the Board to explicitly have regard to the interests of consumers with respect to prices in its decisions respecting proposed Board-approved CDM programs.

It is clear from submissions that there is no unequivocal or clear-cut path to a determination of what the appropriate decision framework ought to be.

While our decisions in this case will end up as a burden to ratepayers, the method by which that occurs is very different than is the case in a normal rate case.  And, therefore, the "just and reasonable" approach may not be perfectly applicable.

The "as far as appropriate and reasonable" approach is really not a decision framework at all.  It has no history of interpretation which would help us in applying it.

The Board is also of the view that if the Minister had wanted the Board to use a novel decision framework, he would have been far more explicit in his directive.

A number of parties also indicated that they were unable to see any material difference between the decision frameworks being proposed.

In the end, the Board has determined that it will use its usual analytical approach with respect to costs to the proposals being made in this case, as it does in all other cases that come before it.

We will balance the need for economic efficiency and the protection of consumers, with respect to prices, with the rest of the legislative scheme and the terms of the directive.

In our view, this is the kind of review the public and the Minister expect us to conduct with respect to these proposals.

The second question was with respect to OPA programs and approvals.  All parties were in agreement that the Board does not have the legislative mandate and the jurisdiction to consider the nature, adequacy and cost of the OPA province-wide CDM programs.  Parties argued, however, that the OPA programs were relevant from the point of view of determining relative cost-effectiveness of applied-for utility programs, the size and scope of the gap between the capacity and energy reductions that can be achieved by using the OPA programs, and the overall utility-specific energy and capacity targets and whether, of course, utility programs are duplicative.

The Board agrees that it does not have jurisdiction over the OPA programs, and agrees with parties that the information relating to OPA programs provide important context for the applied-for utility-specific programs that will assist the Board in applying its usual analytical framework with respect to costs, and, in particular, whether the applied-for programs are duplicative as per the Minister's directive.

The third question was whether the OPA programs are sufficiently established for the Board to review new CDM programs to be approved by the Board.

The Board is of the view that it remains an open question as to whether the OPA programs have been established and that this question will be determined as the evidence unfolds.

The Board is of the view that the programs were not established in July or November 2010.  From the Board's perspective, the OPA programs must be established, described and taken up in such a way that the Board can make a confident determination that the Board-approved CDM programs are not duplicative as per the Minister's directive.

The last question was with respect to the EM&V protocols.  Section 3.1.4(a) of the Board's CDM Code requires an applicant for Board-approved CDM programs to file a program evaluation plan based on the OPA's EM&V protocols.

Although Hydro One Networks and Hydro One Brampton have filed a draft evaluation plan template for each program, they have not filed a complete evaluation plan.

Hydro One indicated in its evidence and at the technical conference that it will prepare a complete plan, with the assistance of a third-party expert, after Board approval of any programs.

The applicants indicated to the Panel, in its submission on the preliminary matters on Friday, that in the course of selecting a third-party expert, the applicant expected to obtain a wide variety of submissions as to how to deploy these programs that would result in totally different methods and means of evaluating those programs.

The applicants also stated that although it is only the method of deployment that may change, changes in deployment may affect some of the results in the uptake and success and speed with which some of the programs result in savings as opposed to some of the other programs.

Moreover, the applicants revised their position with respect to the EM&V protocols set out in their evidence and at the technical conference, arguing that it is no longer planning to complete the protocols after approval, Board approval; that its EM&V protocol is in fact complete; and that the Board should hear evidence from the applicants' witnesses that the EM&V plan, as filed, satisfies the requirements of the Board.

The Board does not agree with this approach.  The Board is of the view that in the absence of a complete evaluation plan for each program, the application is incomplete and the proceedings should be adjourned until the evaluation plan is filed.

Mr. Engelberg indicated that the Panel can elaborate on its plan during the hearing.  The Board believes it has no latitude in this regard.  The code clearly states that an evaluation plan must be filed with the application.

The Board, therefore, adjourns this hearing until the evaluation plan is filed.

Are there any questions?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I advised Mr. Millar that I did have one matter to raise in light of the expectation of an adjournment; and, that is, on Friday, the applicants advised that they would provide us with certain documents that had been refused at the technical conference.

My understanding was that that agreement to provide them was conditional on this hearing proceeding today.  I am now advised by my friend that because it is not proceeding today, they're not willing to provide them right now.  And I would like an order from the Panel, if the Panel agrees, that those documents be provided.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Engelberg, I think it was made clear on Friday that we thought that the material was relevant.  Is there a problem with filing those materials as soon as possible?

MR. ENGELBERG:  My understanding was that when the agreement was made by the applicants to file the material and that it was conditional on the hearing proceeding, that my friend, Mr. Shepherd, said that what Hydro One said that it was willing to file on behalf of both applicants was not, in fact, what he was asking for.

My recollection is that I said at that time that I would have to go away and consult with my clients, which I have not yet had an opportunity to do, of course, over the weekend, to find out whether in fact this material can be obtained, can be filed, and so forth.

So my suggestion would be and my submission would be that at such time, a reasonable time before Hydro One makes a determination regarding your decision today and the filing of the EM&V plan such that the matter can go ahead, that Hydro One give a response to Mr. Shepherd and to the Board a reasonable amount of time before that date.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What is the information that you are having doubts about?  What is it that you seem to be unable to provide?  It seems to me there were two categories of things.  One had to do with a model run with respect to the TRC outcomes.  Is that still in doubt as to whether you are going to provide that?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't actually know, Mr. Sommerville.  I would need to speak to a couple of my clients before I can respond to that question.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do you have a transcript reference that indicates that that was conditional upon this proceeding, this hearing proceeding today?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I don't have the transcript with me.  I do know -- I do recall only that I said on Friday afternoon that something was conditional on what would happen.

I thought I said that, but then when the undertaking, the offer was rejected, Mr. Sommerville, in my submission that reopened the matter.

Mr. Shepherd said that is not what I am looking for.

MS. TAYLOR:  So at page 151, line 18, Mr. -– or, sorry, line five, Mr. Shepherd says:

"The first one was a breakdown of the FTEs in the entire department, broken down by Board-approved programs, OPA programs and other, and broken down into areas so that we can see what they're doing.  That was the first thing. 
"The second thing is with respect to the budget, we are not looking at the budget that was in the 2011 distribution rate case, because that has been superseded already.  We are looking at the current budget that they're expecting for the current period, which is -- will of course be new, because they have now got new programs and substantial new targets. That is what we asked for and what was refused."

And Mr. Engelberg, you said:

"I'm sorry, Members of the Panel.  I wasn't aware that those were the questions.  I don't think the other people here from the applicants were, as well. Instead of taking the time of the Board now, could you grant us until early next week to answer that, both of them?"

MR. ENGELBERG:  That is my recollection, yes.

MS. TAYLOR:  But that wasn't a conditional statement on whether we proceed or not.  It was simply an issue of getting an answer that that was your understanding.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Now that you have read those words, I understand that it wasn't conditional.  But given that we are not proceeding now, given that Hydro One will have to look into the matter of the EM&V plan to see whether that can be done and that will be some time in the future, what I am asking the Board is to grant us one indulgence, and that is that when the EM&V plan is filed, if it is filed, that we have to provide that information a reasonable time before the matter proceeds so that everybody will have it, including the Board; a reasonable time.

I see no benefit and I would suggest that there is no benefit in giving it to -- producing that material now, when the hearing is, in effect, being adjourned sine die.

MS. TAYLOR:  Which means?  I'm sorry, I don't understand the "sine die."

MR. ENGELBERG:  It is being adjourned without a date being set for resumption.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We can cure that.

With respect to the TRC model, Mr. Engelberg, the record is even clearer.

This is on page 150.  And there is no hesitation or qualification with respect to your undertaking to provide that information.

MR. ENGELBERG:  And Hydro One is willing to provide the TRC model.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So a populated model, according to the transcript, according to your undertaking in the –- okay.

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So do you have any idea when that is going to happen?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Can I consult with Mr. Malpass?

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I am advised that we can provide the populated TRC model by Friday of this week.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Do you have any comments, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.

The thing we were asking for in terms of budget and FTEs is what has presumably internally been approved by the board of directors or management or whatever.

So this is an existing document.  We are not asking them this to make something up.  We are asking them to give us what they have already decided internally.

So I am not sure I understand why my friend had some doubt about whether it is available.  It is available.  They presumably don't run a conservation department without having somebody approved its budget.

MR. ENGELBERG:  The request by Hydro One for that -- regarding that material, that this be put off until a reasonable amount of time before the hearing resumes, if that is the case, is not based on lack of availability.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What is it based on?

MR. ENGELBERG:  It is based on the fact that there is no benefit, in our submission, to providing that until a reasonable amount of time before it is determined -- before a date is determined as to when this matter will proceed.

There appears to be no benefit now.  It could be --


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry?  Why wouldn't it be of benefit to provide it as soon as possible so people have an opportunity to review it?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Because they should have an opportunity to review it, and that is why I am asking that we be granted the indulgence of providing it a reasonable amount of time before this matter proceeds so that people will have an opportunity to review it.  I am not asking that we provide it 48 hours or 72 hours before the hearing resumes.

MS. HARE:  Do you have any idea as to when you might be filing the EM&V protocol?

MR. ENGELBERG:  I have no idea whatever.  We have not caucused on this at all since we got the e-mail yesterday afternoon at 3:35.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  So I assume you will be in touch with Board counsel.

You understand the Board has a very busy agenda.  So as soon as we have an idea as to when we can reconvene, we can slot the time in.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand that.  My understanding is it certainly won't be very soon, because according to what my understanding was leading up to this hearing and during the hearing, we have to do an RFP.  We have to find vendors.  That is not a short process.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So it is your position that the filing of the evaluation plan is dependent on a competitive process for an audit?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, that is my understanding.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is how your company interprets that requirement?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that is how you perceive compliance with the code to -- where compliance with the code to lie?

MR. ENGELBERG:  Yes, it is.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.

MS. TAYLOR:  And if I just may clarify, is that because, as you indicated on Friday, that the uptake and participation numbers are directly dependent upon what the third party consultant/auditor will tell you?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No.  In fact, I am advised that that was incorrect.  It is not because of the uptake.  It is because of a number of choices that vendors will have, determining deployment matters that don't relate to uptake.  But a whole number of matters that -- I'm sorry, Ms. Taylor.  I can provide more details if you want.  I can get them from the clients, but the idea was that different vendors would provide different types of evaluation programs, depending on the different ways that they saw that the programs would be deployed.

And that has been the applicants' understanding in the months leading up to the submission of this application on November 1, and the applicants never heard anything to the contrary.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So what you are indicating to the Board is that the method of deployment is something that you have not determined?  That your programs have not been designed or devised to the point of deployment, and that that is still an open question?  Is that what you are telling the Board?

MR. ENGELBERG:  No.  I'm sorry, I have to respectfully disagree with that.

I believe I got into that discussion with Ms. Taylor on Friday afternoon.

I think we are using the word "deployment", the applicants are using the word "deployment" in a much, much narrower way than you have just used it.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The perhaps you could help --


MR. ENGELBERG:  There are certain aspects of the deployment of the programs that cannot be determined until the vendor is chosen.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Have you developed options for them, Mr. Engelberg?

It seems to me the strangest possible proposition that you -- that you have these series of programs, that you have -- you are asking the Board to approve, and that presumably you have determined and devised and designed with great particularity.

You mentioned how many pages in the record define these programs.

So it is a mystery to me as to why it is necessary to go through a rather convoluted and lengthy process at this stage --


MR. ENGELBERG:  And a costly process.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- and a costly process, to come up with an evaluation plan, when presumably the four corners of these programs have been determined by you.

What did you expect the Board to approve?  Is the Board expected to approve something that is then going to change down the road, depending on what your consultant tells you to do?

MR. ENGELBERG:  It wasn't the applicants' expectation that that would happen, but it was the applicants' expectation that the method and the different possibilities of evaluation would change, not the programs.

MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So that returns me to the point that:  How was it not possible to handle that in the context -- why hasn't that been managed to date?

That doesn't seem to be so open to so many different possibilities that that couldn't have been done before now.  It raises the question as to how material this whole business is.

I mean, there are two ways of looking at the evaluation program.  The first way is that it is a general protocol that defines how -- roughly, how these programs are going to be evaluated.

The other thing has to do with something -- this is the issue that you raised on Friday, that it has to do with a very detailed aspect or some detailed aspects about how the programs are actually going to be implemented in the market.

Those are matters of great concern to the Board, and the Board would not be in a position to approve programs which these critical features are still outstanding.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand your concern.  It was not the applicants' view that the vendors and the programs that they would come up with would determine how the programs would be implemented in the market.  It was only certain of the aspects that would.  And, to me, what this discussion is showing and what the discussion on Friday afternoon is showing is that the applicants must have had, and must still have -- they will have to review your decision and comments, of course, but must have had a different understanding of the kind of EM&V plan that the Board says it requires in order for an application to proceed, because based on the applicants' understanding of it, it would have been an impossibility for the applicants to provide what the Board says it is looking for.

So obviously there is some sort of disconnect there between the applicants' understanding and the Board's.

MS. HARE:  I think the deployment strategy really goes to the heart of the programs, and you are asking for $32 million and $8 million.  It is a lot of money not to have details in terms of what the deployment strategy would be.

I don't think the Board is going to approve any programs without those details.

MR. ENGELBERG:  I understand.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am listening to this back and forth, and it occurs to me that both of the gas utilities have evaluation plans that they use each year.  They amend them from time to time, but they have quite detailed plan for how they evaluate and audit their programs.

And they do their RFP at the end of the process.  They have the plan in place already.  It has already been approved by the Board, and then they do an RFP to select somebody and tell them, Here is our plan.  This is how you do it.  This is how we want it done.

So perhaps Hydro One has a different thought about how this is done, but they can just look to the gas utilities, which is a way -- the Board has already approved how the gas utilities are doing it.  I hope that is helpful.

MS. HARE:  Are there any other questions?

Thank you.  We are adjourned then.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 9:58 a.m.
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